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STUDENT ARTICLE 
Cyberspace: An Emerging Safe Haven for 
Housing Discrimination 

By Jeffrey M. Sussman* 

I. Introduction 

By its nature, the Internet facilitates relatively unregulated 
communication between strangers. In the abstract, many websites are 
like a newspaper’s classified section.  They take postings created by 
individuals and facilitate their availability to third parties.  This arti-
cle looks at whether websites, such as Craigslist1, that function as a 
medium for these listings, are liable for any discriminatory content 
they host.  Specifically, this article argues that current legislation 
provides immunity for websites that host advertisements in violation 
of the Fair Housing Act (“FHA”).2  This article will demonstrate that 
even though newspapers are liable for discriminatory housing post-
ings within their classified sections, the identical postings on their 
websites would not pose any resultant liability. 

Part II of this article will discuss the prevalence of discrimina-
tory housing advertisements posted on the Internet and introduce the 
principal legislation governing these advertisements and the policies 
and procedures of those websites that commonly host them.  Next, 
Part III will analyze the specifics of § 804(c) of the Fair Housing Act, 
codified at 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c), referred to as §3604(c) throughout.  

 

* J.D. candidate, May 2008, Loyola University Chicago School of Law; B.S., 
Business, 2003, University of Colorado at Boulder- Leeds School of Business; 
B.S., Journalism, 2003, University of Colorado at Boulder - School of 
Journalism and Mass Communication. 

1 Craigslist Home Page, http://www.craigslist.org. (last visited Nov. 20, 2006). 
Craigslist defines itself as “a place to find jobs, housing, goods & services, social 
activities, a girlfriend or boyfriend, advice, community information, and just any-
thing else – all for free, and in a relatively non-commercial environment.” 
Craigslist Factsheet, http://craigslist.org/about/pr/factsheet.html (last visited Nov. 
20, 2006). 

2 Fair Housing Act, Pub. L. No. 90-284, 82 Stat. 81 (codified at 42 U.S.C. §§ 
3601-3608, 3609-3614, 3614-1, 3614a, 3615, 3616, 3617-3619). 

http://www.craigslist.org/
http://craigslist.org/about/pr/factsheet.html
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This section will also discuss the specifics of § 230 of the Communi-
cations Decency Act3 (“CDA”) which appears to provide complete 
statutory immunity for website defendants in housing discrimination 
suits.  In Part IV, this article will look at two cases within which 
courts are first beginning to address the question of whether CDA 
immunity exists for websites that host third-party-created housing 
advertisements in violation of the FHA.  Part V will discuss how 
these cases will establish the Internet as a safe haven for discrimina-
tory housing and the effect this immunity will have on consumers. 

II. Fair Housing, Advertising, and the Internet 

Just one week after Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. was assassi-
nated, President Lyndon Johnson gave a speech from the White 
House declaring that despite the belief of the American populace that 
fair housing would never become the “unchallenged law of the 
land. . . its day has come.” 4  Essentially, the FHA, as amended, 
makes it unlawful to discriminate in the sale or rental of housing.5  
Specifically, it protects individuals of seven different protected 
classes: race, color, religion, sex, familial status, disability and na-
tional origin.6  The FHA makes advertisements that express intent to 
discriminate in the sale or rental of housing unlawful.7 

Despite the government’s more than 30-year history of en-
forcing the FHA, housing discrimination remains prevalent.  In 2004 
alone, the United States Department of Housing and Urban Devel-
opment (“HUD”) and its local partners received 9,187 complaints re-
garding housing discrimination.8  This government assessment did 
not account for individual civil suits that alleged fair housing viola-

 
3 Communication Decency Act of 1996, Pub. L 104-104, Title V, Feb. 8, 1996, 

110 Stat. 133 

(codified at 47 U.S.C. §§ 230, 560, 561). 
4 Lyndon Baines Johnson, Remarks Upon Signing the Civil Rights Act (Apr. 

11, 1968).  
5 See 42 U.S.C. § 3604 (2006). 
6 Id.  In January 2005, Congressman Town introduced an amendment to the 

FHA adding sexual orientation to the list of protected classes.  H.R. 288, 109th 
Cong. (1st SESS. 2005). 

7 See infra Part III. (presenting a textual analysis of the advertising provision of 
the FHA). 

8 U.S. DEPT. OF HOUS. AND URBAN DEV., 2005 STATE OF FAIR HOUSING 
REPORT (2005), available at http://www.hud.gov/offices/ 
fheo/enforcement/fhmreport05.pdf. (referring to the 2004 fiscal year). 
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tions.  For various reasons, discrimination is regularly unreported and 
occasionally unnoticed. 

Without deference to the FHA, President Clinton signed the 
CDA into law in order to promote the unfettered growth of the Inter-
net in 1996.9  This law established immunity for “interactive com-
puter service[s],” alleged to be involved in the publication or dis-
semination of information provided by another “information content 
provider.”10  Based on the relative age of this statute, courts are still 
grappling with the applicability of this immunity to different web 
service providers.  Presently, courts are beginning to determine 
whether websites that post housing advertisements with content in 
violation of the Fair Housing Act are immune from liability for host-
ing allegedly illegal advertisements.11 

Many of the websites that claim immunity under § 230(c) ap-
pear to recognize an inherent duty to make sure they do not host dis-
criminatory material.  For example, Craigslist places a hyperlink at 
the top of each web-listing informing its users that “[s]tating a dis-
criminatory preference in a housing post is illegal” and informs users 
to “flag discriminatory posts as ‘prohibited.’”12  Moreover, a click on 
that statement links to a brief explanation of the Fair Housing Act and 
outlines the relevant provisions.13  It even provides examples of 
common unlawful advertisements.14 

Craigslist additionally relies on a procedure whereby users are 
able to remove offensive and illegal content.15  If a reader of a post-
ing determines it to be discriminatory, the user is able to follow a link 

 
9 See Pub. L. 104-104, 110 Stat. 56 (codified as amended at 47 U.S.C. § 230(a) 

(1998)). (presenting the findings behind § 230 of the CDA). 
10 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) (1998). 
11 See infra Part III (discussing two cases that involve this matter of first im-

pression). 
12 Craigslist, Help > Flags and Community Moderation, available at 

http://www.craigslist.org/about/help/flags.html (last visited Nov. 20, 2006).  
13 Craigslist, Fair Housing is Everyone's Right!: Stating a Discriminatory Pref-

erence in a Housing Post is Illegal http://www.craigslist.org/about/FHA.html (last 
visited Nov. 20, 2006). [hereinafter Craigslist, Help for Flags and Community 
Moderation]. 

14 Id. (stating in part that, “these examples should give you some idea of what 
might constitute a discriminatory housing advertisement… postings describing the 
race of current occupants of the complex or neighborhood (e.g. "African-American 
neighborhood," "most residents are Asian," "lots of Hispanic families," etc.)”).  

15 Craigslist, Help for Flags and Community Moderation, supra note 13.  

http://www.craigslist.org/about/help/
http://www.craigslist.org/about/FHA.html
http://www.craigslist.org/about/help/
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and flag the listing.16  After several flags, the postings are removed.  
Craigslist claims that nearly one-tenth of all posting are ultimately 
removed through the flagging system.17  The website contends that 
ninety-eight percent of those postings removed actually violate the 
Terms of Use.18  The Terms of Use specifically forbid users from 
posting or emailing materials that violate the FHA.19 

While Craigslist’s system arguably contains among the most 
thorough procedure for eliminating discriminatory posts, other classi-
fied-style websites condone discriminatory housing postings.  Sub-
let.com is an apartment rental service.  On its homepage, it places an 
Equal Opportunity Housing logo that links to its website’s policy re-
garding the Fair Housing Act that expressly forbids discriminatory 
postings.20  Other housing websites such as Roommates.com appear 
to rely solely on a blanket statement within their terms of service 
agreement that forbids users from posting illegal advertisements of 
any sort.21  Regardless of immunity, classified-style websites clearly 
seem to recognize that by the nature of their business they are prone 
to hosting discriminatory advertisements and take steps, in varying 
degrees, to discourage such illegal activity.  Alone, this cognizance 
does not, cannot, and should not automatically establish or support 
website liability. 

III. The State of FHA Advertising and CDA Immunity 

A complete discussion of whether classified-style websites 
may be held liable for hosting discriminatory housing advertisements 
demands an inquiry into the precise language of critical sections of 

 
16 Id. 
17 Id. 
18 Id. 
19 Craigslist Terms of Use, http://craigslist.org/about/terms.of.use.html (last 

visited Nov. 20, 2006). (stating “[y]ou agree not to post, email, or otherwise make 
available [c]ontent: … that violates the Fair Housing Act by stating, in any notice 
or ad for sale or rental of any dwelling, a discriminatory preference based on race, 
color, national origin, religion, sex, familial status or handicap….”). 

20 Sublet.com Equal Opportunity Housing, http://www.sublet.com/eoh.html 
(last visited Nov. 20, 2006) (stating, in part that “All real estate advertised herein is 
subject to the federal Fair Housing Act, which makes it illegal to advertise "any 
preference, limitation, or discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, handi-
cap, familial status, or national origin, or intention to make such preference, limita-
tion or discrimination"). 

21 Roommates.com, Acceptance of Terms, http://www.roommates.com/ 
terms.rs (last visited on Nov. 20, 2006). 

http://craigslist.org/about/terms.of.use.html
http://www.sublet.com/eoh.html
http://www.roommates.com/ terms.rs
http://www.roommates.com/ terms.rs
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the FHA and the CDA. 

A. The Fair Housing Act Advertising Provision 

Under the FHA, housing advertisements may not state a pref-
erence based on “race, color religion, sex, handicap, familial status, 
or national origin, or an intention to make any such preference, limi-
tation, or discrimination.”22  For example, a housing listing that pro-
claims “no blacks” or “no whites” is illegal.23  Similarly, demanding 
that a tenant be of a certain religion or describing a neighborhood as a 
“Jewish neighborhood” would be unlawful.24  Even language that is 
only subtly discriminatory is illegal, regardless of intent, so long as it 
has the effect of discrimination.25 

Of all the sections of the Fair Housing Act, section 3604(c) is 
the most widely applicable.26 Those property owners who may le-
gally discriminate through various exceptions to the Act are nonethe-
less forbidden to advertise their discriminatory preference.27  This 
section’s broad language proclaims that it is unlawful. . . 

 
[t]o make, print, or publish, or cause to be made, 

printed, or published any notice, statement, or advertisement, 
with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling that indicates 
any preference, limitation, or discrimination based on race, 
color religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national ori-
gin, or an intention to make any such preference, limitation, 
or discrimination.28 

 
 

22 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c) (2006). 
23 See generally MEMORANDUM FROM ROBERT ACHTENBERG, ASSISTANT 

SEC’Y FOR FAIR HOUSING AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY TO OFFICE DIRECTORS ET. AL. 
ON GUIDANCE REGARDING ADVERTISEMENTS UNDER §804(C) OF THE FAIR 
HOUSING ACT (Jan. 9, 1995) available at http://www.hud.gov/offices/fheo/ dis-
abilities/sect804achtenberg.pdf. [hereinafter Memorandum from Roberta Achten-
berg] 

24 See id.  
25 Id. 
26 Jennifer C. Chang, Note, In Search of Fair Housing in Cyberspace: The Im-

plications of the Communications Decency Act for Fair Housing on the Internet, 55 
STAN. L. REV. 969, 973 (2002). 

27 Id. “[P]rohibitions of the act regarding familial status do not apply with re-
spect to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 807(b) of the act.” Fair 
Housing Advertising, 54 Fed. Reg. 3308 § 109.5 (Jan. 23, 1989). 

28 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c)(2006). 

http://www.hud.gov/offices/fheo/
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Courts have interpreted the “make, print or publish” language 
of 3604(c) to extend liability to newspapers,29 magazines, television, 
radio stations30, and real estate listings.31  Additionally, guidance on 
fair housing advertising from HUD states that the provision was in-
tended to apply to all advertising media.32  Given this expansive 
framework, it would appear liability could rightfully extend to web-
sites when deference is given solely to this statute. 

Courts uniformly acknowledge that the “critical test for de-
termining whether a notice, statement, or advertisement is violative 
of [3604(c)] is whether, in its natural interpretation, it would indicate 
to an ordinary reader or listener, who is neither the most suspicious 
nor the most insensitive of the citizenry, a discriminatory preference 
or limitation prohibited by the statute.”33  Essentially, if a court finds 
that a listing expressly identifies a discriminatory preference as per-
ceived by an ordinary observer, “the plaintiff need not establish that it 
was made with discriminatory intent in order to prove a violation of § 
3604(c).”34  However, evidence of discriminatory intent is always 
relevant in determining the actual meaning of a listing.35  Such evi-
dence also helps determine unlawfulness when a particular adver-
tisement is not outright discriminatory, but nevertheless, discrimi-
nates in effect against the ordinary observer.36 

It is important to note that courts have dismissed all argu-
ments insisting that 3604(c) violates the First Amendment freedom of 
press.  As far back as 1971, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals pro-
claimed that “application of § 3604(c) to newspapers does not con-
travene freedom of the press protected by the First Amendment.”37  

 
29 See United States v. Hunter, 459 F.2d 205 (4th Cir. 1972).  See also Hous. 

Opportunities Made Equal, Inc. v. Cincinnati Enquirer, Inc., 943 F.2d 644 (6th Cir. 
1991). 

30 See Blumenthal v. Drudge, 992 F. Supp. 44, 49 (D.D.C. 1998). 
31 See Wheatley Heights Neighborhood Coal. v. Jenna Resales Co., 447 F. 

Supp. 838 (E.D.N.Y. 1978). 
32 Memorandum from Roberta Achtenberg, supra note 23. 
33 William H. Danne, Jr., Annotation, Validity, Construction, and Application 

of § 804(c) of Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act) (42 U.S.C.A. § 3604(c)) 
Prohibiting Discriminatory Notice, Statement, or Advertisement With Respect to 
Sale or Rental of Dwelling, 142 A.L.R. FED 1 (1997). 

34 Id.  
35 Id. 
36 Id. 
37 Hunter, 459 F.2d at 213. 

http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?DB=1000546&DocName=42USCAS3604&FindType=L&AP=&fn=_top&rs=WLW6.08&mt=LawSchoolPractitioner&vr=2.0&sv=Split
http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?DB=1000546&DocName=42USCAS3604&FindType=L&AP=&fn=_top&rs=WLW6.08&mt=LawSchoolPractitioner&vr=2.0&sv=Split
http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?DB=1000546&DocName=42USCAS3604&FindType=L&AP=&fn=_top&rs=WLW6.08&mt=LawSchoolPractitioner&vr=2.0&sv=Split
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In 1991, the Second Circuit came to the same conclusion. “The gov-
ernment may. . . ban deceptive advertising or ‘commercial speech re-
lated to illegal activity’” without violating the First Amendment.38  
Thus, the constitutionality of 3604(c) is so well established that this 
article will not explore any First Amendment freedom of the press 
arguments for website immunity, and will exclusively explore immu-
nity as granted by the CDA. 

B.  A Textual Look at the Communication Decency Act 

In 1996, Congress recognized that the “rapidly developing ar-
ray of the Internet and other interactive computer services available 
to individual Americans represent[ed] an extraordinary advance in 
the availability of educational and informational resources to our citi-
zens.”39 Therefore, government recognized and codified that “the pol-
icy of the United States. . . [is] to preserve the vibrant and competi-
tive free market that presently exists for the Internet and other 
interactive computer services, unfettered by Federal or State regula-
tion.”40  In Congress’s attempt to advance this and other similar ob-
jectives, they passed § 230(c) entitled “Protection for ‘good samari-
tan’ blocking and screening of offensive material,” which states: 

 
(1)  Treatment of publisher or speaker 
No provider or user of an interactive computer service 

shall be treated as the publisher or speaker of any information 
provided by another information content provider. 

 
(2) Civil liability 
No provider or user of an interactive computer service 

shall be held liable on account of— 
any action taken in good faith to restrict access to or 

availability of material that the provider or user considers to 
be obscene, lewd, lascivious, filthy, excessively violent, har-
assing, or otherwise objectionable, whether or not such mate-
rial is constitutionally protected; or 

any action taken to enable or make available to informa-
tion content providers or others the technical means to restrict 

 
38 Ragin v. N.Y. Times Co.  923 F.2d 995, 1002-03 (2d Cir. 1991). 
39 See Pub. L. 104-104, 110 Stat. 56 (codified as amended at 47 U.S.C. § 

230(a)(1998)). 
40 47 U.S.C. § 230(b)(2)(2006). 
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access to material described in paragraph (1). [sic]41 
 
At its simplest, immunity exists where (1) the defendant is a 

provider or user of an interactive computer service; (2) the cause of 
action treats the defendant as a publisher or speaker of information; 
and (3) the information at issue was provided by another information 
content provider.42 

Textually, the broadness of this immunity provision rests sig-
nificantly on the definitions of “interactive computer service” and 
“information content provider.”  Section 230 defines an “interactive 
computer service” as “any information service, system, or access 
software provider that provides or enables computer access by multi-
ple users to a computer server. . . such as. . . services offered by li-
braries and educational institutions.”43  It defines an “information 
content provider” as “any person or entity that is responsible, in 
whole or in part, for the creation or development of information pro-
vided through the Internet or any other interactive computer ser-
vice.”44  By creating a broad definition for “interactive computer ser-
vice,” Congress clearly intended for this provision to apply not just to 
the Internet itself, but also to websites and other content linked by the 
Internet. 

One commentator pointed out that this statute neglects to de-
fine “publisher” or “speaker” and therefore common law meanings 
should be inferred in its interpretation.45  In ordinary parlance, pub-
lisher “should refer to someone who approves the creation of or has 
control over the content of the published material, and includes those 
who print and sell books, newspapers, and other periodicals.”46  A de-
termination of whether an individual or corporation is a publisher 
would hinge on the level of participation that the publisher has with 
the content creator.47  At common law, publishers are held to higher 
levels of liability than someone who merely disseminates informa-
tion.48  Therefore this commentator suggested that websites that do 

 
41 47 U.S.C § 230(c)(2006) (referencing “paragraph (1)” in section 

230(c)(2)(B) where statute is most likely meant to refer to 230(c)(2)(A)). 
42 Batzel v. Smith, 333 F.3d 1018, 1037 (9th Cir. 2003). 
43 47 U.S.C. § 230(f)(2)(2006). 
44 47 U.S.C. § 230(f)(3)(2006). 
45 Chang, supra note 26, at 984-95. 
46 Id. 
47 Id. 
48 Id. 
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no more than facilitate the distribution of messages would be held to 
a lower level of liability.49  Hence § 230(c)(1) could be given either 
of two meanings.50  First, this section could be interpreted to ensure 
that websites that solely distribute messages are not treated like 
common law publishers.51  Under this theory, the statute would effec-
tively lower their level of liability and not grant such websites abso-
lute immunity.52  However, substituting the common law definition 
for “publisher” with the ordinary meaning would create blanket im-
munity for all websites.53  Absent legislative or statutory guidelines 
suggesting that the common law meaning be adopted for use in con-
struing this statute, courts have uniformly granted websites and other 
online providers blanket immunity. 

Section 230(e) explicitly lists only four exceptions to interac-
tive content provider immunity. That subsection entitled “effect on 
other laws” states: 

 
No effect on criminal law 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair the 

enforcement of section 223 or 231 of this title, chapter 71 (re-
lating to obscenity) or 110 (relating to sexual exploitation of 
children) of Title 18, or any other federal criminal statute. 

 
No effect on intellectual property laws 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit or ex-

pand any law pertaining to intellectual property. 
 
State law 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent any 

State from enforcing any State law that is consistent with this 
section. No cause of action may be brought and no liability 
may be imposed under any State or local law that is inconsis-
tent with this section. 

 
No effect on Communications Privacy law 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the ap-

plication of the Electronic Communications Privacy Act of 
1986 or any of the amendments made by such Act, or any 

                                                           
49 Id. 
50 Chang, supra note 26, at 984-95. 
51 Id. 
52 Id. 
53 Id. 
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similar State law.54 
 
Notably, civil rights legislation is not among the express ex-

ceptions of § 230. Therefore, there is a textual presumption that Con-
gress recognized the areas of law where immunity was not appropri-
ate and codified those exceptions it deemed appropriate to the 
exclusion of the FHA.  Outside these limitations, courts have uni-
formly applied a broad construction of § 230. 

C. Inferring Immunity: Consistency in Court Decisions 

Congress passed § 230 in direct response to a New York court 
decision that held Prodigy, a popular computer network, liable for the 
content of messages posted on its bulletin boards.55  The court deter-
mined that because Prodigy “held itself out as an online service that 
exercised editorial control over the content” on those boards, it 
should be treated as a publisher.56  Therefore, the network was held 
liable for defamatory statements posted by a third party.57 Just one 
year later, Congress granted immunity for “interactive computer ser-
vices” in an attempt to prevent similar judicial results.58 

The era of broad website immunity began in 1997 with the 
Fourth Circuit’s holding in Zeran v. America Online.59  In this suit, 
an America Online (“AOL”) user argued, “AOL unreasonably de-
layed removing defamatory messages posted by an unidentified third 
party, refused to post retractions of those messages, and failed to 
screen for similar postings thereafter.”60  The district court granted 
AOL’s motion for judgment on the pleadings after accepting § 230 as 
an affirmative defense.61  The court reasoned that the plaintiff’s ar-
gument asserting that AOL had a duty to remove the defamatory 
statements once informed of them was contrary to the meaning of § 

 
54 47 U.S.C. § 230(e)(1998). 
55 Zeran v. Am. Online, Inc., 129 F.3d 327, 331 (4th Cir. 1997), cert. denied, 

524 U.S. 937 (1998). 
56 Stratton Oakmont, Inc. v. Prodigy Servs. Co., No. 31063/94, 1995 WL 

323710, *2 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. May 24, 1995). 
57 Id. at *7. 
58 Communication Decency Act of 1996, 47 U.S.C. § 230.  
59 See Zeran, 129 F.3d. 327. 
60 Id. at 328. 
61 Id. 
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230.62  On appeal, the Fourth Circuit affirmed.63 
The Fourth Circuit held that § 230 “precludes courts from en-

tertaining claims that would place a computer service provider in a 
publisher’s role.”64  Therefore, any lawsuit that demands liability for 
failure to conduct “traditional editorial functions – such as deciding 
whether to publish, withdraw, postpone, or alter content – are 
barred.”65  The Fourth Circuit concluded that “Congress made a pol-
icy choice. . . not to deter harmful online speech through. . . imposing 
tort liability on companies that serve as intermediaries for other par-
ties’ potentially injurious messages.”66  Liability rests not with the 
online service provider, but with the individuals who post messages 
with the online service provider.67 

Alternatively, Zeran attempted to impose liability on AOL by 
defining AOL’s action not as that of a publisher, but rather that of a 
distributer.  At common law, distributers are only liable for defama-
tory remarks within their distributed materials if they have actual 
knowledge of its presence.68  Consequently, the plaintiff argued that 
when he provided notice to AOL, AOL assumed a duty to remove the 
inflammatory material. The plaintiff argued that the language of § 
230 was intentionally limited to publishers; thus, Congress did not in-
tend to extend immunity to distributors.69  In response, the court ex-
claimed, “[e]ven distributers are considered to be publishers. . .”70 
With this one statement, broad content provider-based immunity was 
born. 

A year later, the United States District Court for the District 
of Columbia dismissed AOL from liability pursuant to § 230 for host-
ing comments alleging that a White House employee had a history of 
spousal abuse.71 These comments were provided in gossip columnist 

 
62 Id. at 330. 
63 Id. at 335. 
64 Zeran, 129 F.3d. at 330  
65 Id. 
66 Id. at 330-31. 
67 Id. at 330. 
68 Id. 
69 Zeran, 129 F.3d at 331. 
70 Id. at 332.  In 2002, the Ninth Circuit commented that “every court to reach 

the issue has decided Congress intended to immunize both distributors and pub-
lisher.” Batzel v. Smith, 333 F.3d 1018, 1027 (9th Cir. 2003), fn 10. (granting im-
munity to a listserv operator that selects and compiles third party emails). 

71 Blumenthal v. Drudge, 992 F. Supp. 44, 46 (D.D.C. 1998).  
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Matt Drudge’s Drudge Report.72  Despite AOL’s contractual option 
to “remove content that AOL reasonably determine[s] to violate 
AOL’s then standard terms of service,” AOL was not an “information 
content provider.”73 Rather, “AOL was nothing more than a provider 
of an interactive computer service on which the Drudge Report was 
carried, and Congress has said quite clearly that such a provider shall 
not be treated as a ‘publisher or speaker’ and therefore may not be 
held liable in tort.”74 Matt Drudge on the other hand was an “infor-
mation content provider” and beyond the scope of § 230 immunity.75 

Several years later in Ben Ezra v. America Online, the court 
further expanded immunity when it held that “interactive computer 
service[s]” that take active steps to communicate with a third party to 
control the accuracy of information posted on their websites and in-
duce corrections, do not become  “information content providers” 
under the text of § 230.76 Essentially, this holding expanded immu-
nity by restricting the definition of “information content provider.” 
The court reasoned that this interpretation comports with Congress’ 
intent to “forbid the imposition of publisher liability on a service pro-
vider for the exercise of its editorial and self-regulatory functions.”77  
Similarly, a term of service agreement that maintains the right “to 
remove messages deemed not in compliance with Community Guide-
lines” does not create a waiver of immunity.78 

In 2003, the Seventh Circuit affirmed, in Doe v. GTE, that § 
230 provided immunity for two interactive computer service provid-
ers that provided access to illegally produced videos of athletes 
changing in their locker room.79  More notable than this predictable 
conclusion was the court’s dicta.  In dicta, the court stated that had 
the defendants had a contractual right to protect the plaintiffs, the 
court might be able to bypass § 230 immunity.80  While many attor-
neys point to the dicta in Doe to argue bypassing immunity, no 
known judicial opinion has adopted or further expounded on this 

 
72 Id. 
73 Id. at 47. 
74 Id. at 50. 
75 Id. 
76 Ben Ezra, Weinstein, and Co. v. Am. Online Inc., 206 F.3d 980, 985 (10th 

Cir. 2000). 
77 Id. at 986. 
78 See Green v. America Online, 318 F.3d 465, 471 (3d Cir. 2003). 
79 Id. at 471. 
80 Doe v. GTE Corp., 347 F.3d 655, 657-58 (7th Cir. 2003). 
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plaintiff-friendly avenue. 
That same year, the Federal District Court for the Eastern Dis-

trict of Virginia held in Noah v. AOL Time Warner that AOL was 
immune from liability stemming from third party content hosted on 
its network in violation of Title II of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 
dealing with public accommodations.81  In this case, the pro se plain-
tiff sued AOL for not preventing “harassing comments that blas-
phemed and defamed plaintiff’s Islamic religion and his co-
religionists.”82 The court reasoned that § 230 overrides Title II liabil-
ity for websites because the statutory text of § 230 has express excep-
tions written into it; “namely, causes of action based on (i) federal 
criminal statutes, (ii) intellectual property law, (iii) state law ‘that is 
inconsistent with this section,’ and (iv) the Electronics Communica-
tions Privacy Act of 1986.”83  Notably, the Civil Rights Acts are not 
among them.84  “Moreover, the exclusion of federal criminal claims, 
but not federal civil rights claims, clearly indicates, under the canon 
of expressio unius est exclusion alterius, that Congress did not intend 
to place federal civil rights claims outside the scope of § 230 immu-
nity.”85  This case suggests a bleak outcome in a case where the Fair 
Housing Act, under Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, con-
fronts § 230 immunity. 

A recent case involving Internet dating sites provided signifi-
cant insight into the amount of editorial control a website may exer-
cise and still qualify for § 230 immunity.86  In Cerafano v. Metros-
plash.com, the Ninth Circuit held that immunity extended to the 
Internet dating website, Matchmaker.com when it rejected the plain-
tiff’s contention that automated additions to user dating profiles 
based on responses to online questionnaires established the website 
as an information content provider. 87  In reaching this conclusion, 
the court reasoned that where website-developed content results 
solely from user activity, the website is not an “information content 
provider.”88  The holding in this case provides an important precedent 

 
81 See Noah v. AOL Time Warner, Inc., 261 F. Supp.2d 532 (E.D. Va. 2003), 

aff’d, 2004 WL 602711 (4th Cir. 2004) (per curium). 
82 Noah, 261 F. Supp.2d at 534. 
83 Id. at 539. 
84 Id. 
85 Id. 
86 See Carafano v. Metrosplash.com Inc., 339 F.3d 1119 (9th Cir. 2003). 
87 Id. at 1125. 
88 Id. 
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to current litigation. 
While academia continues to debate whether the broad defini-

tion of “interactive computer service” and the narrow definition of 
“information content provider” reflect Congress’ intention when it 
passed § 230, there appears to be uniformity across court reasoning.  
Therefore, regardless of the plaintiff or the allegation, holding a web-
site liable for its content is an extremely difficult task.  However, it is 
in this immunity-friendly atmosphere that civil rights activists at-
tempt to hold websites liable for hosting discriminatory housing post-
ings. 

IV. The FHA and § 230 Immunity Collide in Court 

Courts are now beginning to address the issue of immunity for 
Internet outlets that host discriminatory housing advertisements in 
violation of § 3604.  In California, a federal district court held that 
Roommate.com was immune under § 230 for content hosted on its 
website.89  That decision is currently on appeal in the Ninth Circuit.90  
Concurrently, Illinois federal courts are grappling with whether 
Craigslist is immune from liability for advertisements posted on its 
popular bulletin board website.91  This section will address the argu-
ments advanced by counsel for both sides in these cases. 

A.  Fair Housing Council of San Fernando Valley v. 
Roommate.com 

In 2003, the Fair Housing Council of San Fernando Valley 
(“FHC”) brought suit in the United States District Court for the Cen-
tral District of California alleging violations of the Fair Housing Act 
and similar state law claims against Roommate.com as well as claims 
for unfair business practices and negligence.92 The Defendant argued 
that § 230 granted it broad immunity from liability for hosting third 
party content and therefore it could not be liable for the FHA 

 
89 See Order, Fair Hous. Council of San Fernando Valley v. Roommate.Com, 

LLC, 2004 WL 3799488, at *2 (C.D.Cal., Sept. 30, 2004). 
90 Docket, Fair Hous. Council, et al. v. Rommate.com, LLC, No. 04-57173, 

(9th Cir.). 
91 See Complaint for Monetary, Declaratory & Injunctive Relief; Demand for 

Jury Trial, Chicago Lawyers’ Comm. for Civil Rights Under Law, Inc. Craigslist, 
Inc., No. 06C 0657, 2006 WL 344836 (N.D.Ill. Feb. 3, 2006). [hereinafter CLC 
Complaint] 

92 Roommate.com, 2004 WL 3799488 at *2. 
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claims.93 
Rommmate.com is the owner and operator of 

www.roommates.com– a website that helps individuals seek com-
patible roommates.94  To accomplish this, users create profiles that 
include information about themselves so others can search it and may 
express interest.95  For users to complete their profile, they must se-
lect from several options regarding age, gender, sexual orientation, 
occupation and number of children.96  Notably, the profile survey in-
quires into neither race nor religion.97  They must also create a nick-
name to identify their profile.98  Users can also attach a personal 
statement and photographs to their profile.99 

Users must create a separate profile for each property listing.  
These property profiles must include the detail of the area’s location, 
rent, availability date, and the property’s features.100  While some 
questions are clearly not discriminatory, Roommate.com does ask 
about sexual orientation, age, gender, and familial status all of which 
are protected classes under the FHA. 

The terms of service policy of Roommate.com holds users 
“entirely responsible” for the content they post.  Furthermore, the site 
states that they are not the author of the posted information.101  As 
soon as a profile is complete, it is visible to all users.102  They do not 
screen listings except to the extent that any photographs added to a 
profile are screened prior to making them available to users.103  At 
the time of this suit, Roomate.com received over one million page 
views a day and 24,000 users subscribed to premium services.104  
Some services were available with a free, basic subscription.105 

 
93 Id. 
94 Id. at *1. 
95 Id. 
96 Id. 
97 Roommate.com, 2004 WL 3799488 at *1. 
98 Id. 
99 Roommate.com, 2004 WL 3799488 at *2. 
100 Id. at *1 
101 Id. at *2 
102 Id. 
103 Id. 
104 Roomate.com, , 2004 WL 3799488 at *1 
105 Id. 
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FHC contends that Roommate.com violated fair housing laws 
in three distinct ways.  First, they contend the specific user nick-
names violate the FHA.106  Some allegedly discriminatory nicknames 
include: “ChristianGrl, CatholicGirl, Asianpride, Asianmale, White-
boy, Chinesegirl, Latinpride, and Blackguy.”107  Second, the informa-
tion in the user personal statements often contains discriminatory 
content.108  Examples of discriminatory comments include the fol-
lowing: 

‘[L]ooking for an ASIAN FEMALE OR EURO GIRL’; 
‘looking for a straight Christian male’; ‘I am not looking for freaks, 
geeks, prostitutes (male or female), druggies, pet cobras, black mus-
lims or mortgage brokers’; and ‘[h]ere is free rent for the right 
women . . . I would prefer to have a hispanic female roommate so she 
can make me fluent in Spanish or an Asian female roommate just be-
cause I love Asian females.’”109 

Lastly, FHC contends that the defendant violated the fair 
housing act through the questions in the questionnaire.110  The or-
ganization contends that asking people to specify gender, sexual ori-
entation, age, and familial status violates the FHA.111 

In 2004, the United States District Court granted a partial 
summary judgment motion for the defendants that dismissed the FHA 
claim.112  In doing so, the court also dismissed the supplemental state 
law fair housing claims for lack of jurisdiction after the only federal 
claim was dismissed.113  Judge Anderson noted that this case “is ap-
parently the first case to address the relationship between the CDA’s 
grant of immunity and the FHA’s imposition of liability for the mak-
ing or publishing of discriminatory real estate listings.”114  In support 
of this decision, the court rested largely on the statutory language of 
the CDA.  While not directly citing to Noah, the court referenced the 
maxim expressio unius est exclusion alterius, which means, “the ex-

 
106 Id. at *2. 
107 Id. 
108 Id. 
109 Roomate.com, , 2004 WL 3799488 at *2 
110 Id. 
111 Id. 
112 Id. at *6. 
113 Id. 
114 Roomate.com, 2004 WL 3799488 at *3. 
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pression of one thing implies the exclusion of the other.”115  The 
court reasoned that because § 230 has some textual exceptions, it is 
not the court’s role to infer an additional exception for civil rights 
laws.116 

Further, the court likened this case to the Carafano holding in 
which the Ninth Circuit provided immunity to Matchmaker.com for 
claims of inaccurate postings on its website that were the result of 
questionnaires. Following similar logic, the court in Roomate.com, 
held that Roommate.com should not be liable for its similarly gener-
ated content.117  After all, “immunity is quite robust.”118 

Moreover, the court addressed the plaintiff’s concerns that 
this holding could potentially “eviscerate the FHA.”119  The court 
suggested that it was helpless in preventing this potential outcome.120  
In dicta, the court explained, “operators of Internet sites such as 
Roommate.com have an advantage over traditional print media be-
cause websites, unlike newspapers, are exempt from 42 U.S.C. § 
3604 and the related state fair housing laws for publishers.”121 The 
court reached its holding based on the law, and urged Congress to 
address whether further changes were necessary.122 

This case is currently on appeal in the Ninth Circuit.  Among 
the standard briefs filed, Amazon.com, America Online, Ebay, 
Google, Tribune Company, Yahoo!, Netchoice and the United States 
Internet Service Provider Association have filed an amici curiae brief 
in support of Roommate.com.123  Their brief argues that the court 
should uphold its decision because the plain language of § 230 im-
munizes interactive computer services from liability for third party 
content.124  They further argue that each of the statutory elements re-
quired for immunization are present in this case.  They believe that a 

 
115 Id. 
116 Id. 
117 Id. at *3-4. 
118 Id. at *3. 
119 Roomate.com, 2004 WL 3799488 at *4. 
120 Id.  
121 Id. 
122 Id. 
123 See Brief for Amazon.com, Inc. et al. as Amici Curiae Supporting Defen-

dant at 1, Fair Hous. Council of San Fernando Valley et al. v. Roommate.com, 
LLC, No. 04-57173 (9th Cir. 2005).  

124 Id. at 7-8. 
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reversal of the district court decision would undermine the policy ob-
jectives of § 230 and adversely affect their individual businesses.125  
These arguments will likely prevail.  As the amici curiae brief states, 
FHC’s view of § 230 “ignores its plain language and deviates sharply 
from the established case law examining the statute’s scope.126 

 

B.  Chicago Lawyers’ Committee for Civil Rights Under Law v. 
Craigslist 

Recently, the Chicago Lawyers’ Committee for Civil Rights 
Under Law (“CLC”) brought suit against Craigslist alleging viola-
tions of § 3604 of the FHA.127  In its complaint, the CLC identified 
approximately 120 allegedly discriminatory housing advertisements 
observed on the Chicago section of Craigslist.128  Among the alleg-
edly discriminatory statements were: “African Americans and Arabi-
ans tend to clash with me so that won’t work out;” “Non- women of 
Color NEED NOT APPLY;” “Muslim preferred;” and “Require-
ments: Clean Godly Christian Male.”129  Little more than a rudimen-
tary analysis of these statements is needed to reach the conclusion 
that many of them are discriminatory.  In their answer, Craigslist nei-
ther confirmed nor denied the existence of these statements.130  In-
stead, they contended that confirming their presence would be overly 
burdensome.131 

After all, Craigslist believes they are not liable regardless of 
whether they hosted the alleged postings.  Therefore, they filed a mo-
tion for judgment on the pleadings, which asked the court to rule on 
the issue of immunity to prevent unnecessary discovery if the court 
rules in their favor.132 

In a memorandum in support of this motion, Craigslist 
 

125 Id. at 10-13. 
126 Id. at 6. 
127 See CLC Complaint, supra note 91. 
128 Id. ¶¶ 17-141 (referencing chicago.craigslist.org). 
129 Id. ¶¶ 17, 21, 30, 44. 
130 Answer with Affirmative Defenses, Chicago Lawyers’ Comm. for Civil 

Rights Under Law, Inc. v. Craigslist, Inc., No. 06C 0657, 2006 WL 1232495 ¶¶ 17-
141 (N.D .Ill. Apr. 14, 2006). 

131 Answer with Affirmative Defenses, supra note 130, ¶¶ 17-141. 
132 Mem. in Support of Craigslist's Mot. for J. on the Pleadings, Chicago Law-

yers’ Comm. for Civil Rights Under Law, Inc. v. Craigslist, Inc., No. 06C 0657, 
2006 WL 1041035 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 14, 2006) [hereinafter Memo in Support]. 
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pointed to the plethora of court cases that grant immunity to Internet 
service providers that host third party material.133  They contended 
that all decisions discussing immunity point toward a broad construc-
tion of § 230 that would consequently apply to them.134 

Craigslist was quick to suggest that if their website was not 
immune and if  accordingly they were “[f]aced with potential liability 
for each message republished by their services, interactive computer 
service providers might choose to severely restrict the number and 
types of messages posted.”135  Craigslist has fewer than two dozen 
employees, yet hosts hundreds of thousands of messages a month on 
its website.136  It would not be feasible or even possible for the lim-
ited staff to monitor these listings.137 

The website argued that it meets each of the elements to es-
tablish immunity.  They attempted to demonstrate that they are a 
“provider” of an “interactive computer service” by comparing their 
activities to those of other sites that previously benefited from immu-
nity.138  Next, they argued that the allegedly discriminatory content 
“constitutes ‘information provided by another information content 
provider.’”139  Craigslist likened its service to those in Zeran and Ca-
rafano. Subsequently, they contended that CLC inaccurately portrays 
Craigslist as a “publisher.”140 However, case law uniformly holds that 
websites that automatically generate text to accompany a third party 
posting are not “publisher[s]” for purposes of § 230.141 

In the CLC’s memorandum in opposition, they urged the 
court not to adopt the construction of § 230 adopted by the “Third, 
Fourth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuits” in favor of an alternate interpreta-
tion of § 230 that no court has ever adopted.142  They further criti-
cized the recent decision in Roommate.com as a “cursory analysis of 

 
133 Id.  
134 Id.  
135 Id.  
136 Id. 
137 Memo in Support, supra note 132. 
138 Id. 
139 Id. 
140 Id.  
141 Id. 
142 Mem. in Opp’n to Def.['s] Mot. for J. on the Pleadings, Chicago Lawyers’ 

Comm. for Civil Rights Under Law, Inc. v. Craigslist, Inc., No. 06C 0657, (N.D. 
Ill. May 19, 2006), available at 2006 WL 1447139 at *7-8 (N.D. Ill. May 19, 
2006). [hereinafter Memo in Opposition] 
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§ 230.”143  CLC contended that the readily adopted interpretation 
fails to give meaning to the title of § 230(c) stating “Protection for 
‘Good Samaritan’ blocking and screening of offensive material.”  
They argued that this section’s title was poorly named, because if 
courts continue to infer that § 230 grants immunity to websites that 
take no affirmative steps to block or screen offensive material, the 
section’s name was essentially misleading. Furthermore, they be-
lieved that the consistent decisions applying § 230(c) contravened the 
Congressional intent evidenced by the section’s title.144 

In an amicus curiae brief filed in support of the CLC, the Na-
tional Fair Housing Alliance (“NFHA”) discussed the importance of 
the FHA.145  They demonstrated how case law broadly interprets the 
Act.  NFHA contended that 3604(c) explicitly holds publishers liable 
for § 3604(c) violations, stating that the “[t]he language of the Act is 
broad and inclusive.”146  Essentially, it was the NFHA’s position that 
Internet sites cannot be held to a different standard than newspa-
pers.147  “Given the immense volume of housing advertisements 
found on the Internet, the broad ends of the FHA cannot be achieved 
if websites such as Craigslist are considered immune from its cover-
age.”148 

In contrast, an amici brief jointly filed by AOL, Ebay, 
Google, Yahoo!, Electronic Frontier Foundation, Internet Commerce 
Coalition, Net choice, Netcoalition, and the United States Internet 
Service Provider Association supporting the motion for judgment on 
the pleadings distinguished newspapers from websites.  It stated that, 
“Congress recognized that such services were revolutionizing the 
way people communicate and gather information because – unlike 
predecessor media such as newspapers – these services carry a vast 
amount of information that originates with subscribers and other third 
parties and is disseminated nearly instantaneously.”149 In furtherance 

 
143 Id. 
144 Id.  
145 See Br. for National Fair Housing Alliance as Amicus Curiae Supporting 

Plaintiff, Chicago Lawyers’ Comm. for Civil Rights Under Law, Inc. Craigslist, 
Inc., No. 06C 0657,  2006 WL 1708503 (N.D. Ill. May 22, 2006). [hereinafter 
NFHA Amicus] 

146 Id. at 17. (quoting Trafficante v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 409 U.S. 205, 209 
(1973)). 

147 Id. 
148 Id.  
149 Br. for Amazon.com, Inc., et al. as Amici Curiae Supporting Defendant 

Craigslist's Mot. for J. on the Pleadings, Chicago Lawyers’ Comm. for Civil Rights 

http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&vc=0&DB=780&SerialNum=1972127216&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&ReferencePosition=209&AP=&fn=_top&rs=WLW6.09&vr=2.0&sv=Split
http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&vc=0&DB=780&SerialNum=1972127216&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&ReferencePosition=209&AP=&fn=_top&rs=WLW6.09&vr=2.0&sv=Split
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of this argument, the brief cited Representative Goodlatte’s com-
ments on the floor of the House of Representatives.150  The Con-
gressman stated that it would not be possible for interactive service 
providers to filter the vast quantities of material website bulletin 
boards commonly face.151 

In November 2006, a Federal District Judge granted 
Craigslist’s motion for judgment on the pleadings.152 The court up-
held Craigslist’s argument that its activity of posting user advertise-
ments fit squarely within the immunity criteria of § 230(c).153 Essen-
tially the court determined that Craigslist is an “interactive computer 
service” that by its nature hosts information from third party “infor-
mation content providers”– its users.154 Resultantly, there is no pub-
lisher liability for Craigslist.155 

However, the court was careful to suggest that this grant of 
immunity only exists to the extent that a cause of action requires find-
ing that Craigslist was a publisher of third party advertisements.156 
While this eliminates the possibility of liability under § 3604(c), the 
court alludes to the notion that other causes of action may exist or 
could be created by legislatures.157 However, it is unclear what cause 
of action the judge had in mind. Perhaps creative lawyering could 
find a successful cause of action, but no particular option appears par-
ticularly fruitful. Post-trial motions are currently underway158 and a 
CLC appeal appears imminent. 

V. Unfair Housing: The Unfortunate but Likely Result 

Over the last ten years the courts have developed sufficient 

 
Under Law, Inc. v. Craigslist, Inc., No. 06C 0657 2006 WL 1794487 ,  ( N.D. Ill. 
June 22, 2006). [hereinafter Amazon Amici]. 

150 Id. 
151 Id. 
152 Chicago Lawyers’ Comm. for Civil Rights Under Law, Inc. v. Craigslist, 

Inc, 2006 WL 3307439, at  *14 (N.D. Ill, Nov. 14 2006). 
153 Id. at*13. 
154 Id. 
155 Id. at *14. 
156 Id. at *13. 
157 Chicago Lawyers’ Comm. for Civil Rights Under Law, Inc, 2006 WL 

3307439, at  *13. 
158 Docket, Chicago Lawyers’ Comm. for Civil Rights Under Law, Inc. v. 

Craigslist, Inc., No. 06C 0657, (N.D. Ill.). 
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precedent to establish the extent of immunity granted by § 230 of the 
CDA.  Therefore, predicting the ultimate and final outcomes in these 
two cases is a practical endeavor.  This section explains the likely end 
results in these cases and discusses how these results will affect con-
sumers. 

A. The Internet as a Fair Housing Safe Haven 

The law of this nation is, in this commentator’s opinion, ex-
tremely clear in regards to this issue: websites that host advertise-
ments in violation of § 230 are immune from liability from the third-
party produced content they host.  Underlying the plaintiff’s position 
in both the Roommate.com and the Craigslist cases, is the notion that 
public policy demands a civil rights legislation friendly interpretation 
of § 230.  However, the policy opinion on which the plaintiffs univer-
sally rely is contrary to the manifest weight of case law uniformly 
applied throughout the nation.  The dicta in Doe is no more than mere 
dicta. While plaintiffs consistently point to it for support, it has little, 
if any, judicial persuasion. 

As CLC points out in framing its case against Craigslist, the 
Third, Fourth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuits have appropriately adopted a 
broad interpretation of § 230.  Boldly, they will likely attempt to con-
vince the Seventh Circuit that every other circuit court got it wrong 
when the case goes on appeal, a near-certain occurrence.  Not only is 
this an uphill battle, it will be nearly impossible. 

As unfortunate as this result is to the advancement of civil 
rights in America, public policy is not in itself sufficient to sidestep 
adopted legislation.  Civil rights laws and regulations are significant 
and undoubtedly within the Congressional radar.  Therefore, when 
the courts in Roommate.com and Noah pointed the to maxim expres-
sion unius est exclusion, the courts got it right. Those exceptions ex-
pressly excluded from § 230 are a strong indicator of those items not 
intended to be excluded under the section.  In passing section § 230, 
Congress wanted to create an environment that “preserve[s] the vi-
brant and free market. . . for the Internet.”159 This holding merely in-
terprets the law to advance that objective. 

Consequently, the Internet is now a safe haven for discrimina-
tory housing advertisements. Websites that host discriminatory post-
ings cannot be held liable for third party content.  Liability for these 
postings now rests exclusively on the third party content producer.  
Unlike other areas of Internet law, in almost all cases, the individual 
or business behind the posting can be easily identified.  Those who 

 
159 47 U.S.C. § 230(b)(2)(1998). 
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seek to rent a house must have direct contact with the individuals 
who seek to rent that house.  Thus, tracking down the liable individ-
ual is not a daunting task. 

B. Fair Housing Effects Consumers 

The essential effect of this resultant safe haven is that con-
sumers seeking housing will confront occasional discrimination.  So 
long as websites are not required to monitor content posted by third 
parties, “interactive computer services” will likely not monitor the in-
formation they host.  The significant cost of monitoring instantaneous 
Internet postings would effectively prohibit any site from providing 
free classified-style listings to its users.  Even the most ethical of 
websites would be financially unable to provide the monitoring 
needed to prevent discriminatory housing postings. Any website that 
chooses to take an active role and monitor the content they host will 
likely pass the cost on to customers. 

Arguably, Craigslist’s appeal is derived substantially from its 
non-corporate appearance. Consumers both in need of housing and 
with housing available to users freely post messages. The ability to 
post information quickly and to receive responses from consumers 
immediately is the essential benefit that these “interactive computer 
service[s]” provide. The lack of regulation on this process enables the 
Internet to provide immediate gratification to consumers. 

Housing consumers troubled by discrimination are not with-
out judicial avenues, however.  It is important to note that while the 
websites themselves are not liable as a result of § 230, a cause of ac-
tion under § 3604(c) remains against the third party content provider.  
Therefore, a consumer who feels discriminated against based on one 
the FHA’s protective classes may seek a civil remedy from the author 
of the discriminatory posting.  Without question, § 230’s limitation of 
liability will in most cases remove the cause of action against the 
deepest pockets because most individuals who post listings often lack 
capital to payout damages while websites generally have available 
funds. 

Recognizing the importance of advancing Fair Housing, the 
United States Government established the Department of Housing 
and Urban Development Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportu-
nity.  This arm of the federal government investigates complaints of 
FHA violations.160  Therefore, individual lawsuits are not the only 

 
160 HUD’S TITLE VIII FAIR HOUSING COMPLAINT PROCESS, available at 

http://www.hud.gov/offices/fheo/ complaint-process.pdf (last visited Nov. 20, 
2006). 
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option available to offended housing consumers.  Any individual who 
feels they are being discriminated against in their ability to acquire 
desirable housing may file a complaint, without cost.161  Thereafter, 
the Department investigates the alleged discrimination.162  Upon a de-
termination of cause that discrimination in violation of the FHA oc-
curred, the case is referred to the Department of Justice, which is 
thereafter required to file suit.163  This alternative procedure enables 
consumers to seek remedies with little expense or legal expertise. 

VI. Conclusion 

The state of fair housing on the internet is clear, but bleak.  
The progeny of cases dealing with immunity under the CDA continue 
to grow to the detriment of plaintiffs facing discrimination.  How-
ever, as the Internet evolves into a safe haven for housing discrimina-
tion, fair housing still remains the law of the land and is still enforce-
able through civil actions. Nevertheless, counter to expansive 
language of the FHA that holds newspapers liable for its third party 
advertising content, the cause of action for housing discrimination on 
the internet under the FHA only rests with the third party content 
provider.  Because of the diminished benefit of suing the liable dis-
criminating parties, consumers will likely face an increasing preva-
lence of discriminatory housing advertisements in the future. 

 

 
161 Id. at 1. 
162 Id. 
163 Id. at 3. 
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